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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

VINCENT MARCH,
Plaintiff, 16-cv-8500 (NSR)

OPINION & ORDER

-against-

METRO-NORTH RAILROAD COMPANY,
Defendant.

NELSON S. ROMAN, District Court Judge

Plaintiff, Vincent March (“Plaintiff” or “March”) brings this action against the Defendant,
Metro-North Railroad Company (“Defendant” or “MTA”), for violations of the Federal Rail Safety
Act (“FRSA”), 49 U.S.C. § 20109. Plaintiff claims that he suffered retaliation, in violation of
FRSA § 20109(d)(3), when he was removed from service for “insubordination” after reporting a
defective wiper blade on one of the trains. (See Complaint, (“Compl.”), ] 22-24, ECF No. 1.)
Presently before the Court is Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Plaintiff’s claim.
(ECF No. 24.) For the following reasons, Defendant’s Motion is GRANTED.

BACKGROUND!
1. The Parties

MTA is a public benefit corporation, a subsidiary of the Metropolitan Transportation
Authority, and operates a commuter railroad in the States of New York and Connecticut. As a mass
transit operator, MTA constantly makes employees inspect railroad equipment inside their facility

and in the yard before trains are brought into service each day. Crews in the yard inspect trains to

I The facts are drawn from Defendant’s Rule 56.1 Statement of Material Facts, (Def. 56.1, ECF No. 26), Plaintiff’s
Rule 56.1 Statement of Material Facts, (P1. 56.1, ECF No. 30), and the exhibits attached to each, unless otherwise
noted. They are undisputed, except where indicated.
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assureeverything is safe anfiinctional, including theights, propulsion, check brakeandair
leakage, among other things.

Plaintiff has been employed by MTA as a machinist since September 3, 2002. Since 2007,
Plaintiff has worked as a machinist in Cnoddarmon, New York (“Harmon”). Machinists at
Harmon inspect all parts of locomotives, including wheels, seats, windshield wipdesets,
and fault logs. In 2015, Plaintiff’'s primary job was working in the diesel locomotive shop.

Il. August 6, 2015 (“The Incident”)

On August 6, 2015, Plaintiff was working an overtime shift under the supervision of
Foreman Graham (“Graham”) and was tasked with inspelctaagnotives. Wiile doing his usual
inspection of things like seats, wipers, windshield doors,Ri@intiff noticed that “the wiper was
distorting” or “contorting” while wiping. (Pl. Dep. at 73-76, ECF No. 25, Ex. 3) Though he could
not identify what effectif any, this contortion was having on the wiper’s functi®aintiff then
called his supervisor, Foreman Grahaia, radio,to report that he had encounteedefective
blade on the engineer side of the locomotemham responded Plaintiff that hewould come
to the siteo check the blades. Grahahenretrieved two replacement blades from a nearby,shed
along with a short extension ladder, and drove outdetPlaintiff.

The parties dispute some of the details surrounding the Incident and what happened next.
Plaintiff claims that onc&raham arriveavith theladder and wiper bladeBlaintiff saw thenand
told Graham that he had a “safety concern” about using a ladder to change tise (aliper80.)

In response to Plaintiffoicing hisconcern, Plaintiff claims that Graham “became cantankerous”
and stated “I got 22 years. | got 22 years. | don’t givelhi@&K about any rules. You find the
defect. You fix it. This is how we change wipers in the yard. You're a newhiedt(79.) Plaintf

states that he never told Graham what the safety concern was or why he haddt heareduest



a good faith challenge formld( at 81.) Instead, supposedly due to Graham’s cantankerousness,
Plaintiff “had to walk away.” Id.) Plaintiff claims thahe then returned to the cab to finish his
inspection for the dayld. at 82.) He also claims that at some point before he walked away,
Graham again told him to fix the blades, saying “I'm giving you a direct ‘onalgtiple times and
thentold Plaintiff. “you are out of service.lq.) Plaintiff is adamant that Graham never offered to
“foot the ladder” and that Plaintiff never raised his hand in Graham'’s directisshtst” him.
(Id. at 83.) Plaintiff does state that at some pdiettold Graham thaasamereforeman, Graham
lacked the authority to take Plaintiff out of servide.)(

Defendant presents a different version of the encounter. According to Defendant, on
August 6, 2015Plaintiff was working overtime and asked Foreman Graham, by radiopnte to
his location. Graham then went to Plaintiff's location, asked which side the deteohwaoked
for a defect, but add not find one. (Graham Dep. ECF No.-Bht 33.) Nevertheless, because
Graham brought a ladder with hirwhich he claims wagéquently used to fix wiper bladeshe
asked Plaintiff to fix the wiper blade with the ladder. To this Plaintiff allegesipanded: “I'm
not fixing that wiper blade.”ld. at 41.) Graham then asked Plaintiff why, in response to which
Plaintiff walked awayand climbed up in the cab to fill out an MEfor a defective wiper blade.
(Id.) Graham then climbed into the locomotive, operated the wiper and the veashsaid:
“Where is the defect on this wiper blade®.] At this point, Plaintiff supposedly respded:
“That wiper blade is defective,” again without explaining how or whd. §t 42.) Graham then
stated: “Show me where the defect is. | don’t see a defect” to which Plantitdfwas still sitting
in the conductor seat filling out an ME “kind of put a hand up as if to shush [him]d.§ After

Plaintiff put up his hand, Graham contends that he again asked Plaintiff if lypingdo change



the wiper blade, at which point Plaintiff again repeated: “I'm not changing tpat Wade.” [d.)
Defendant claims that Plaintiff never mentioned what his safety concern was.

Defendant contersthat Graham then called his supervisor, Kirk Fleming, and told him,
“I have a machinist out in the yard. He said he found a defective wiper blade, | found n@defect
it.” Fleming then purportedly told Graham that if Plaintiff was refusing to fixtalagle on the
vehicle in the yard, despite it beiMJTA’s past practice to do so, Graham should call the general
foreman to see what to ddd( at 44.) Graham also bekes Fleming said something along the
lines of it taking only about two minutes to fix such wipers by laddelr) (

Grahamclaimsthathe offered to assist Plaintifith changing the blade by setting up the
ladder and handing him the necessary tools. (Def. 56.) Mé4alsocontends thate offered to
“re-spot” the train and move it to another platform in order to allow Plaintiff to chawegeldde
while standing on a platform next to the trdld. 146) But becausélaintiff keptrefusng to talk
to or comply withGraham’sdirect ordersPlaintiff andGrahamended their discussiond( 150)
[1I. Plaintiff Reports the Safety Incident Up

After Plaintiff's quarrel with Graham, Plaintiff filled out a standard #Elip relaying
what hebelieved to be wiper defectS¢éeECF No. 251.) Again, it is undisputed that Plaintiff
never asked fonor completed a good faith challenge form. Subsequently, Plaintiff met with
Joanna Kellya more senior supervisor than Grahamom Graham had contadt&elly testified
she told Plaintiff it was standard practice to change wiper blades in the yatthahd tvould be
removed from service if he refused again. At this point, Plaintiff again ekfasghange the wiper
blades in the yardKelly then infomed Plaintiff that he was beingmovedfrom servicefor

insubordination.



Plaintiff theninformed Kelly that he had written up a defective wipkp, and that he
believed it was unsafe to use a ladder to change the wiper Slaakequently, Graham anelky
together inspected the wiper blade in Locomotive 207candluded that it wasperational and
with no defects. Kelly testified that she then returned to her office and informedgeevisors
aboutthe incident with Plaintiff.

V. Use of a Ladderto Change Wiper Blades

Defendant claims thatipers are rarely changed in the yard “not because it is a dangerous
task, but because they are usually changed during matepih inspections that occur in the
Harmon shops.” Defendaatics thatsometimesviper blades need to be changed in the yard and
Graham other supervisorgndmachinists have changed wiper blatterewith a ladder.

Plaintiff agreeghat wipers are rarely changed in the yandiare usually changed in the
shops butisputedhat this is because moredepth inspections occur in the shops. (PIl. 56.1) 162
Other than one instanoshen Graham changed a wiper blade in HarMardyears before 2015,
Plaintiff claims that héasnever seen a wiper blade changed in the.fdediaims that the proper
way to change the blades is by using abdétausehe front windshields of the locomotives are
between 11 and 13 feet above the concrete pads on thettragksd Thus, to change the wiper
blade, an employee would have to be asigrfeet off the cement pad. (Pl. 56.1 1%387) It is
undisputed that in August 2019,TA had no lifts in the yard.

Plaintiff alsotestified that he beliegeusing a ladder to change the wiper blade would
violate MTA safety rules becauseah employedasto go up a laddewith things in hand, anis
working,the employee cannot hatreee points of contacs required undéviNR General Safety

Instruction 300.5.(PI. 56.1 169.)

2MNR General Safety Instruction 3@0states: “follow these guidelines to avoid slip, trip, and fall hazards ntiai
a threepoint contact (two hands and a foot or two feet and a handhold) when gettngff of equipment oatlders.”
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VincentDiRenno, whawas in charge of managing the work force, equipnaaaitfacilities,
and whose responsibilities inclutdemployee safety, also testified that wiper blades can be
changed in the yard using a ladder. DiReaisw testified that although thrgmoint contact is
required while climbing ladders, an employee mhgnge a wiper without violating the rule
because the materials needed can fit in a poSketilarly, Fleming testifiedhat he believed it
was fine for employees to change wipers using ladders, thgoigly forward he expects his
employees to use a lifthile changing blades in the yard becanse/,the MTA has purchased a
lift for the yard He further testified that Occupational Safety and Health Administrét@8HA")
does not require fall protection for workers using portable ladéfrdelieves thisnakes sense
for situations like the present, where a locomotive windshieldnlg about 11 feet off the
ground—meaning that an employa&euld only need to be a few feet off the groundetach it
V. Good Faith Challenge

A “Good Faith Challenge” is the established method for MTA Employees toaraskety
concern related to a job assignment, and it provides procedure for resolving colicams.
employee makes a Good Faith Challenge to an instruction, a supervisorg@amelutstudes
the taskanddeterming whether or not there is a safety issue. If there is a safety issue, this issue
corrected, or equipment is moved to a location where the employeedfegiegorming the task.
Further, if an employee makes a Good Faith Challenge, that employee is proteuntdsipline
for refusing to perform the work until the challenge is completed.

Plaintiff does not dispute that he was trained on how to make a Good Faith Challenge and
knew abouthe procedureHe also does not dispute that employees making Good Faith Challenges
are immune from disciplinary action. Rather, he disputes that the Good Faith Ghallecgdure

appliedto the Incident becaugeonly applies to ‘the right tahallenge in good faith, any directive



that would violate MNR Rule or instruction in [a limited set of safelated] areas...” which
would not apply to his challenge to Foreman Graham’s directive to change the wies. bla
Plaintiff alsoargues that a @od Faith Challenge does not abridge any rights or remedies available
to him under federal law or his collective bargaining agreement. (“CBAially, Plaintiff claims
that he effectively made a Good Faith Challenge, but that in response to it, npédAnel ever
examined whether there was a safety issue with using a ladder in the yard.
VI. Disciplinary Hearing and Appeal Process

On August 11, 2015MTA sent Plaintiff a letter advising him of the disciplinary charge
against him and setting a date &disciplinary hearinglhe hearing took plaaen September 24,
2015 At this hearing, Plaintiff was represented by two union officiatgl a third acted as an
observer. Plaintiff presented witnesses, cesamined witnesses, presented evidence, and
exanined all evidence brought against him. At the hearing’s conclukidn Fleming imposd a
45-day deferred suspension Plaintiff

Although Defendant claims theteminglargely made the decision independently, Plaintiff
claims that Fleming was strongipfluenced in his decision bipiRennqg who encouraged
disciplining Plaintiff through a deferred suspensi@dl. 56.1 187.) Plaintiff appealed the decision
to the MetreNorth Labor Relations Departmentho thenmodified the suspension from forty
five days to two and issued a wage reimbursemerRltontiff's lost days. Plaintifdisputes the

Labor Department’s conclusion, arguing that he was only reimbursed for one ologirdays.

(Pl. 56.1 1 88.)



LEGAL STANDARDS

l. Summary Judgment

Pursuant to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is
appropriate “if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to anglnfeteand the
movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of laed. R. Civ. P. 56(a)The moving party bears
the initial burden of pointing to evidence in the record, “including depositions, documents . . .
[and] affidavits or declarationsseeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A), “which it believes demonstrate[s]
the absence of a genuine issuenddterial fact,”Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323
(1986). The moving party may support an assertion that there is no genuine dispute of a particula
fact by “showing . . .that [the] adverse party cannot produce admissible evidence to stiygort
fact.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B)If the moving party fulfills its preliminary burden, the onus
shifts to the nonmoving party to raise the existence of a genuine issue oihfatgriFed. R.

Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A)Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 252 (1986).

A genuine dispute of material fact exists when “the evidence is such that a reasagable ju
could return a verdict for the nonmoving partyAhderson 477 U.S. at 248accord Gen. Star
Nat’l Ins. Co. v. Universal Fabricators, Inc585 F.3d 662, 669 (2d Cir. 200pe v. City of
Waterbury 542 F.3d 31, 35 (2d Cir. 2008enn v. Kissanes10 F. App’x 34, 36 (2d Cir. 2013)
(summary order)Courts must “draw all rational inferences in the -moovant’'s favor,” while
reviewing he recordKirkland v. Cablevision Sys760 F.3d 223, 224 (2d Cir. 2014) (citing
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (198@&))portantly, “the judge’s function
is not himself to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matiers’into determine
a witness’s credibility. Anderson477 U.S. at 249;e® also Kaytor v. Elec. Boat Cor$09 F.3d
537, 545 (2d Cir. 2010)Rather, “the inquiry performed is the threshold inquiry of determining

whether there is the need for a tfidhnderson 477 U.S. at 25(Bummary judgment should be
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granted when a party “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish itereoe of an element
essential to that party’s case€elotex 477 U.S. at 322.

Critically, in an opposition to a motion for summary judgment “[s]tatements thdeaoéd
of any specifics, but replete wittonclusions” will not sufficeBickerstaff v. Vassar Coll196
F.3d 435, 452 (2d Cir. 199%ee also Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cérp.U.S.
574, 586 (1986) (nonmoving party “must do more than simply show that there is some
metaphysical doubt as to the material factBD)JC v. Great Am. Ins. Cp607 F.3d 288, 292 (2d
Cir. 2010) (nonmoving party “may not rely on conclusory allegations or unsubgtant
speculation” (quotingcotto v. Almenad43 F.3d 105, 114 (2d Cir. 1998))).

Il. Federal Railroad Safety Act

The FRSA was enacted to promote safety in railroad operations and redoeetrailted
accidents and inciden#9 U.S.C. 8§ 20101. The FR$rohibits a railroad from retaliating against
employees for (a) reporting, in good faith, a hazardous safety or securittiagnati (b) refusing
to work when confronted by a hazardous safety condition, in certain circumstd®cesS.C. §
20109(b).

The FRSA follows a burden shifting test to determine whether a whistleblatien &
protectedFirst, © establish grima facieclaim under the FRSA

an employee must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) she
engaged in grotected activity, (2) the employer knew of that activity, (3) she
suffered an adverse employment action, and (4) the protected activity was a
contributing factor in the decision.

Dendy v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Coigo. 14CV-8381JPO), 2016 WL 3198304t *2 (S.D.N.Y.

June 8, 2016)Next, “[i]f the employee establishes the prima facie case, the burden then shifts to
the employer to demonstrate ‘by clear and convincing evidence’ that it would hawvé¢halsame
action in the absence of the protectedvégt” Conrad v. CSX Transportation, In824 F.3d 103,
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107 (4th Cir. 2016)Failure to satisfy any one of tipgima facierequirements is fatal to a claim.
Lockhart v. Long Island R.R. C&66 F. Supp. 3d 659, 663 (S.D.N.Y. 2017). While a plaintiff
does not have to provide proof of the employer’s motive, “at bottom, the essence ottaetali
claim under the FRSA is ‘discriminatory animud.8ckhart 266 F. Supp. 3d at 66Because the
employee need not establish pretext by a preponderance of evidenl€eBSA burden shifting
framework is marginally easierfor plaintiff-employeesto satisfy than the framework under
McDonnel DouglasSeeAraujo v. New Jersey Transit Rail Operations, IM®8 F.3d 152, 159
(3rd Cir. 2013).

DISCUSSION

Defendantargues that Plaintiff's claims must be dismissed bechaseannot meet his
burden of proof for any element neededriakea prima facieretaliation claim Specifically,
Defendant emphasizes thHakaintiff did not engage in protected activiajpd, even if the court
believes he didPlaintiff was never disciplined for such activityut rather, was disciplined for
insubordinationin refusing to comply with all his supervisor’'s requestsintiff agues that he
hasestablisled a prima faciecase of retaliatiomnd that Defendant cannot prowsy clear and
convincing evidencethat it would have taken the same adverse acagasst Plaintiffin the
absence oPlaintiff's protected activity.

The Cout agrees with Defendant in both regards. It finds that Plaintiff cannotisktab
prima faciecase and that his discipline was for insubordination, not for reporting or refusing to
complete an unsafe task.

l. No Proof of Protected Activity
Defendant’s mia issue with Plaintiff orima faciecase is that Plaintiff has failed to prove

that he engaged in a protected activity in the first place. They correatlyhattto state a claim
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for retaliation under the whistleblower provision of the FRSA, 49 U.S.C. Section 20109, the mus
show that he engaged in a protected activity, by doing one of the following thiesacti
(1) providing information pertaining to the investigation of or proceeding about a
violation of safety regulations; 2) reporting, in good faith, a hazardous safety or

security condition or refusing to work around a hazardous safety condition, and (3)
requesting medical treatment for a waodkated injury.

49 U.S.C. § 20109 (&F). Plaintiff does not specify under which condition he is bringing this suit,
but the Court finds that there is no basis for the third option. Plaintiff's claissengally that
MTA retaliated against him after he reported a defect in a windshield wigeefused to climb
a ladder to fixhe reportediefect. Thereforehe Court finds that his claim does not pertain to the
first option—investigaing a proceeding about the violation of safety regulati®e® Hernandez
v. Metro-North Commuter R.R74 F.Supp. 3d 576 (2015). This leaves only the second option as
the basis for Plaintiff's adverse employment action. It is, however, stilliiefic

To prove that he engaged in a protected activity, as understood under § 20138
Plaintiff must“report[ ], in good faith, a hazardous safety or security conditiodR]U.S.C.§
20109 b)(1)(A). The parties dispute whether the language of the statute requires only the
subjective belief that there was a hazardous condits@®P|. Mem. in Opp. alt1-12, ECF No.
29), or whether itequires both a subjective believe and one thabjsctively reasonablgSee
Def. Mem. at 2, ECF No. 33.)

The Court finds the latter interpretation to be correct. While the Second Circaibthyget
directly ruled on this issue, several other circuit courts have found Defendant’s iraBopréh
line with theFRSA’stext, history, and purposPlaintiff cites toCheek v. United State498 U.S.
192, 111 S. Ct. 604 (1991) for the proposition that “good faith bedi@ly requires a subjective
belief of fraudulent activity. But, as Defendant noteseekwas a case interpreting the tax code

and tax fraud, whereas several circuits have held that the FRSA was modeled afttdettal
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whistleblower statutes, such as #edse Claims Act and Sarbanes Oxleywhich a “good faith
belief” includes an objectively reasonable component.

This Court agrees with the conclusion of those circ8ee e.g.Lillian v. Natl R.R.
Passenger Corp259 F. Supp. 3d 837, 84N.D. lll. 2017)(citing Lang v. Nw. Uniy 472 F.3d
493, 4% (7th Cir. 2006) (“As stated earlier, the [FRSA] protects an employee from adverse action
when reporting, in good faith, a hazardous safety or security condition. Our Court of Apasal
held that‘good faith,” as that concept was at issue in a different whistleblowetestatintains
both a subjective and an objective componei@&e als&Conrad v. CSX Transportation, Inc

Like other federal whistleblower statutes, the FRSA is governed by tderbu
shifting framework set forth in the Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment and
Reform Act for the 21st Century (“AHR1"). Sedd. § 20109(d)(2)(A)(i)see also,
e.g, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1514A(b)(2)(C) (Sarbanéxley Act) (incorporating the rules
and procedureof AIR-21); 42 U.S.C. § 5851(b)(3) (Energy Reorganization Act)
(same).

824 F.3d 103, 105 (4th Cir. 2016)urther in whistleblower claims brought pursuant to other
statutes, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals has determined that a “reasofiebleiains

both subjective and objective componentdiélsen v. AECOM Tech. Corg62 F.3d 214, 221

(2d Cir.2014)(citation omitted) (explaining that a plaintiff must “show not only that he believed
that the conduct constituted a violation, but also that a reasonable person in his posittbn woul
have believed that the conduct constituted a violation.”) (quativiggston v. Wyeth, Inc520

F.3d 344, 352 (4th Cir.2008)Thereforeto establish the first element ofmima facieclaim,
Plaintiff must establish that his good faith belief in a safety hazardwigectivelyandobjectively

reasonablé.

3The Court agrees with Defendant that it is appropriate for it to detemtiat was objectively reasonable insofar as
it is relying on undisputed factSeee.g.,Hernandez v. MetrtN. Commuter R.R74 F. Supp. 3d 576 (S.D.N.Y. 2015)
Kerman v City of New York374 F.3d 93, 109 (2d Cir. 2004) (in context of qualified immunity, it was approforate
court to determine whether “defendant official’s conduct was objegtiealsonable” as a matter of law).
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While Plaintif may have subjectively believed there was a safety risk with the blade and
with usingthe laddeto fix it, Plaintiff fails tosupportthathis belies wereobjectively reasonable.
Starting withthe supposedly deficient wiper blad@laintiff never identifies what he
believes the flaw with the wiper blade was. Beyond testifying that it wasliftoghor “distorting”
while in operation, he never identifies whether it had any nedainationaleffect—i.e., whether
it could not clear the windowremovewiper fluid, or otherwise clea it. (Pl. Dep. at 75/6.)
Further it is undisputed that during his exchange with Grahathsubsequent conversation with
Kelly, he never relayed what the precise issue or defect with the blade @sgl$eePl. 56.1 11
39-53.)Nor did he ever provide gmaterialexplanation of the defect ithhe contemporaneous
ME-9 slip. (SeeME-9, ECF No. 31Ex. 7.) Further, multiple supervisors, including Graham and
Kelly, then inspected the blades and could not find a defect, despite their personal knomdedge a
years of experience in identifying safety hazards on locomotives.
Turning tothe objective reasonableness of Plaintiff's refusal to use the ladder to fix the
blade,while there are a few facts in dispute, the Court findstheae are enough undisputed facts
to support that it wasnotobjectivelyreasonable foriim to refuse to change the wiper. For example,
the parties dispute whether Plaintiff merely told Graham that he had “g safigern” or whether
he went so far astating “I got a safety concern about using an extendable ladder to change the
wipers.” SeePl. 56.1 11 3918.) The parties also dispute whether Graham offered to foot the ladder
and offer support as well as how higfi the ground Plaintiff would have tweto reach the blade
What is undisputed is that: Graham took Plaintiff’'s report of the blade issue seriously
enough to arrive on site immediately with a ladder and new blad€saBam tried to converse
with Plaintiff and ascertain what the blade issue t@aso avail, 3)Graham believed that there

was precedent for fixing blade issues with a laddlePlaintiff never went into any details as to

13



why he felt there was a safetynm@rn with using a ladder to fix the blad&¥ Plaintiff never
requested opursued a good faith challengegardinghis concern about using theedder and6)
Plaintiff never saidanything beyond hisague “safety concern” before walking away because
Plantiff supposedIlyfelt that Grahanhad beericantankerous.” %$ee id Pl. Dep. af79-81.) The
parties also agree th@) Graham made a call telemingto relay the situation anceportthat
nothing seemed to be wrong with the blade &felaintiff subsegeantly met with Kelly who again
asked Plaintiff if he was going to change the blades, wiealefusedo do. (PI. 56.1 1 51-53.)

The Court finds that on these facts, it was not objectively reasonable forfPlairgfuse
to fix the safety wipersPlaintiff never identified what was wrong with the wipers on the day of
the Incident nor subsequentlyduring this litigation He even testified that he could not recall if
he tested the wiper with any fluid to see if the blade could still cleamititew. (Pl. Dep. at 76.
He similarly never explained what his safety concern with the ladderamd only said that he
had “a safety concern” with itA vague remark that something dangerouswithout any
explanation about how or why does not reflect good faith or objective reasonabfsetssg
472 F.3dat495(affirming district court’s decision that plaintiff “played the part of Chickétie”
by imagining fraud with no reasonable basis or proof behind her belief).

Further,at least fourof Plaintiff's supervisordestified that while notfrequent,it was
standardor employees at MTA to use ladders to make minor fixes on locomotieaP| 56.1
11 6979) (relaying that Kirk Fleming, Vincent Direnno, Joanna Kelly, and Will@nahamall
testified that they believed it was safe to perform the wiper placement usirgga)|&tbreover
the record is replete with evidence of Plaintififusalto engage irany conversation about his
safetyrelatedbelief. SeePl. Dep. at 783) (reflecting that Plaintiff never explainedhy he

thoughtusing the laddewas dangeroysvhat rulehe thought using the laddewouldviolate, why
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he felt he might get hurtr what alternativeouldwork); (Direnno Dep. at 17, ECF No. 22 Ex.
16) (explaining Plaintiff’s history and behavior petn of walking awayrefusing to change parts
failing to tell people whyhe believedhingswere defective and failing toreplacesupposedly
defective itemsvhen asked)(Disciplinary Hearing Memorandum, ECF No.-3Q) (reflecting
that Plaintiff behaved obstinately and uncooperatively during the Incadeinat theDisciplinary
Hearing when he abruptly announced that he would be leaving early and did so in theoimiddle
testimony without offering an explanati@r seeking a postponemenisraham Dep. at 401,
43, ECF No. 25, Ex. 6) (relaying Graham'’s testimony that when he asked Ptaifikfthe wiper
blade, Plaintiff refused to do it, walked away from the conversation rather thanppaein it,
and then raised his hand to “shush” GrahafKglly Dep. at 61) (“He did mention that it was
unsafe. He didn’t explain to me why, and he didn’t say that he was doing a good faith challenge.”)
Plaintiff's obstinate behavior on August 6, 2015 \wasticularlyproblematic because, as
Defendant points out, a refusal to engage in a particular activity can only d@otirfaith” when
“no reasonable alternative to the refusal is available to the employee.$48.1§ 20109(b)(2).
Here,Plaintiff later admitted tht another method to fix the blade would have been by using a hatch
or by moving the train to another track. (PIl. 56.1 1 82). But because Plaintiffdefusmverse
on the subject, he did not establish that there was no reasonable alternative bus thea¢fisk
Not only does the record show that Plaintiff was obstinate and uncooperative ahtnGr
whenGrahamarrived athe track, but it shows that Plaintiff was obstinate with Kelly when he met
with her and she again asked him if he would be willing to fixahper blades (PI. 56.1  53-
54.) The record even reflects that Plaintiff had previously made a similarly vagopelaint and
thathewas hostile and uncooperative durimg Disciplinary Hearing

In sum, Plaintiff has adduced insufficient evidencshowthat he was being objectively
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reasonable in refusing to use the ladder. While he has prauideticle abotithe danger of falling
from ladders, gee ECF No. 31, Ex12), anda segment of MTA'’s rules requiring three points of
contact MTA Safety Manual, ECF No. 31, Ex. 18he overwhelming evidence, including his
own testimonyshows that he was being persistently difficult, vague, and uncoopexativihat
there was no urgent or imminent threat of danger posed by the blade.

Lastly, Plaintiff admitted that he knewaf and was trained oMTA’s good faith process
and nevesoughtto avalil it, even though it would hapeotectechim from disciplinary action(PI.
56.1 1 910, 57.) Plaintiff's discounting of the proper procedure for handing such complaints
further cements the Court’s finding that Plaintiff's refusal to use the ladderadiconstitute an
objectively reasonable safety concern. Accordingly, Plaintiff has fatildfto establish that he
engaged in a protected activity under the statute as is requiregdrioraafacieclaim.

[I.  No Discriminatory Animus

Even if ongfoundthat Plaintiff’'s conduct was protected activity under the statute, the Court
finds that Plaintiff has failed to adduce sufficient proof in support of the fourth etereeessary
for a prima facieclaim—that the protected activity was a contributing fadtothe decision to
terminate Plaintiff.

Both parties agree that in order for Plaintiff to make out a successful claimugte m
establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that retaliation was “atmgtfeator” or “a
contributing factor” in his terminationSeeDef. Mem. at 1617; Pl. Opp. at 145.) The parties
agree that there is no precise formula for how Plaintiff must do this. He can diertnoystrating
temporal proximity optherwise. At the heart of the inquiry, however, is whetierreis sufficient
evidence for a trieof-fact to conclude that there wagetaliatory animus underlyirfgjaintiff's

adverse actionSeelLockhart 266 F. Supp. 3d at 668xplaining that wile a plaintiff does not
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have to provide proof of the employerisotive, he must make a showing of some retaliatory
animus).

TheCourt finds thaevenif Plaintiff had engaged in protected behayar employewould
not liable for retaliation “if it can prove ‘by clear and convincing evidentat it ‘would have
taken the same unfavorable personnel action in the absence of that [protected] Béhavior.
Gutierrez v. Norfolk & S. Ry. CoNo. 12 C 2396, 2014 WL 551684, at (M.D. Ill. Feb. 12,
2014) see also Gunderson v. BNSF Ry.,850 F.3d 962, 9690 (8th Cir. 20T) (“An employee
who engages in protected activity is not insulated from adverse action for violairkplace
rules, and an employer’s belief that an employee committed misconduct is a legito
discriminatory reason for adverse action.”)

Here, Paintiff has not adduced sufficient proof to connect his termination to his safety
complaint. There is ndhardevidence that MTA disciplined Plaintiff for reporting the defective
blade. To the contrary, Plaintiff had made the exact same type of complaomypacted with a
written slip,one month earlier and was nef@mally disciplined, PI. 56.H123-27;Direnno Dep.
at 17.) WhenPlaintiff madethe same type afomplaint on August 6, 2015, Foreman Graham
immediately grabbed a ladder and blade to rRé&entiff at the track and fik. (SeeGraham Dep
at 3940.) In other words, MTA took Plaintiff's complaint seriousty both instancesThe only
difference between the two instances was Plaintiffs blatant insubomhnatind
uncooperativeness on August 6, 2015, in response to which he was dismissed.

In addition, the timeline does not support Plaintiff's argument. Kelly’'s decisi@end
Plaintiff home had nothing to do with whether the blade was deficient, as she did notspesn i

the blade until aéir Plaintiff left.(Graham Dep. a49-50;PI. 56.1 1 560.) Indeed she testified
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that she terminated hiopon his repeated refusal to fix the blade or otherwise cooperate with her
when they met.eeKelly Tr. at 1722, ECF No. 3-5, Ex. 5.)

Defendanthas demonstratety a preponderance of evidenteat Plaintiff's termination
wasattributable to his insubordination above all elsa. example, he admits that Kelly told him
during their discussion that he was being terminated for insubordinatioheftefused to fix the
blades (SeePl. 56.1 1 5%7). Indeed, Kelly testified about the conversation in which she
terminated Plaintiff for insubordination, relaying:

| spoke to Vincent March. | asked him if he was going to change the wiper blades,

and hesaid no. And | said, why not? He said that it was unsafe. | told him that his

Foreman instructed him to replace the wiper blades and this was standara practic

in the yard. And | told him that he would be out of service if he wasn’t going to

change the wiper blades. He said he wasn't going to change them and | sagl he w

out of service.

(Kelly Dep. at 17, ECF No. 25, Ex. 7.) She also relayed “He was uncooperative. Heewvasrobs
that he wasn’t going to change the wiper blades, | kept going around in cir¢ldgmijtso | took
him out of service because both him and the Foreman were worked up and | didnjosek a
work relationship between the two of themld.(at 60-61.) Graham’s testimony corroborates
Kelly’s account(SeeGraham Dep. at 70Greham email dated Aug. 06, 2015, ECF No. 25, EX.
12.) Further,upon the conclusion of Plaintiff's Disciplinary Hearing in whiBfaintiff and
Defendant presented evidence and witnesBkEsning relayedthat he made the decision to
implement a 3@lay suspension against Plaintiff due togessistentnsubordination:

Summary of Testimony

...CP did not suggest alternative methods to accomplish the assigned task, he

simply refused to do the work. Moreover, CP’s demeanor at the hearing was

confrontational and at 3:35 pm he announced that he would be leaving at 3:55 pm

without offering a reason why or explaining why he did not ask for a postponement
At 3:55, after only a few minutes of testimony, he abruptly left the proceedings.
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CP was charged with insubordination for refusing a direct order to change

windshield wipers on Engine 207.

Recommended Penalty

...CP did not suggest alternate ways to change the wipers, and his demeanor at the
time was assessed by General Foreman Kelly as insubordinate, uncooperative and
detrimental to the workplace. His behavior at trial was consistent with that
description. For these reasons, the recommended penalty in this matter is a 30 day

suspension.

(Disciplinary Hearing Memorandum at 2, ECF No. 31-20.)

Accordingly, Plaintiff has failed to establish two necessary elements for a prima facie

retaliation claim under the FRSA. Failure to establish even one element is fatal. Consequently,

Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Plaintiff’s claim is GRANTED.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’s Motion is GRANTED in its entirety. The Clerk of

the Court is respectfully directed to terminate the motion at ECF No. 24, terminate the case, and

enter judgment in favor of the Defendant.

Dated: March 28, 2019
White Plains, New York

SO ORDERED:

o
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NELSON S-ROMAN
United States District Judge




